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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 
EASTERN DIVISION 

MOHAMED ALSAMMAN, 
MOHAMMED ALW ATIK, 
AHMAD ASSAF, 
IIASSAN I3ELGHALI, 
HASSAN DAMRA, 
MOHAMMED FARAH, 
JAMAL HASAN, 
AHMAD SHAKER KHADDASIl, 
BASEM SHARAF, and 
TARIQ SAEED, 
individually and on behalf of all individuals 
similarly situakd, and 

ARAI3 AMERICAN ACTION NETWORK, 

Plainti n~ / Petitioners 

v. 

CASE NO.: 

06CV2518 
JUDGE PLUNKETT 
MAGISTRATE NOLAN 

Jury Demand 

ALBERTO R. GONZALES, in his ofliciul 
capacity Attomey General of the United States; 
MICHAEL CHERTOFF, in his official 
capacity as S~crdary ofth~ D~partm~nt of 
Homcland Security; 

F I LED 
GERRY HETNAUER, Dislrict Director ol'the 
Dureau of Citizenship and Immigration 
Serviccs, Department of Homeland Security; 
ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, 
in his official capacity as Director of the 
F~d~ral Bur~au ofTnv~stigation, 

Defendants / Respondents 

MAY - 4: 2001\ fO 
UlCHAIL W. DOIIINI 

a sw. U.I. DlMMCr COURT 

Complaint for Naturalization and Other Relief 
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This is a complaintli1r injunctive and other relief. The plaintilTs arc lawful permanent 

residents of the United States who applied to be naturalized as United States citizens, passed all 

their interviews and related tests, and have been waiting for more (han 120 days --- some as long 

as 2 years --- to be scheduled for their oath ceremonies. The plaintiffs are also all Muslim men 

who come from countries with significant Muslim populations, While they have been wailing 

for long periods to be sworn in, hundreds of thousands of others people seeking to be naturalized 

have had their ceremonies scheduled without the same delay. The men are joined by (he Arab 

American Action Network, a non-profit organization that sought information concerning the 

delay Muslim men are facing, but has not had that information provided by the government, The 

indi vidual plaintiffs seek immediate naturalization and an end to the practice of indefinite delay 

of the naturalization of Muslim men, The Arab American Action Network seeks compliance 

with the Freedom of Information Act, 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1, This court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to at least the following 

statutory provisions: 28 U,S,C, § 1331 (because questions of federal/aw are presented); 8 U,S.c. 

~ 144 7(b) (granting district court jurisdiction to review naturalization applications); and 42 

U.S.c. ~ 2000bb-l(e) (allowing assertion of a violation of a Religious Freedom Restoration Act 

to be asserted in ajudicial proceeding); 5 U,S.C. § 552 (a) (4)(8) (FOIA requests); and 28 

U,S,c. § 1361 (mandamus jurisdiction), 

2. Pursuant to 29U.S,C. § 1391, venue is proper in this district on either oCthe 

following grounds: (l) the plaintiffs reside in this judicial district, the defendants arc officers of 

the United States or agencies of the United States, and no real property is involved (28 U.S.C, § 

1391 (e)(3)); or (2) acts or omissions giving rise to (he action these applications for naturalization 
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were processed in part by the Chicago oflk", ofImmigration and Naturalization Services (now 

Ih", Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services) (28 U.S.c. ~ 1391(e)(2)). The FOIA 

plaintiff resides in this district, making jurisdiction and venue proper pursuant to 5 U.S.c. § 552 

(a) (4)(B). 

The Parties 

Plaintiffs: 

3. PlainlifTs MOHAMED ALSAMMAN, MOHAMMED ALWATlK, AllMAD 

ASSAF, HASSAN BELGHAU, HASSAN DAMRA, MOHAMMED FARAH, JAMAL 

HASAN, AHMAD SllAKER KHADDASH, BASEM SHARAF, and TARIQ SAEED (the 

"Named Plaintifls") are lawful permanent residents of the United States who have applied to be 

naturalized as US. citizens. 

Class Allegations: 

4. Nam",d Plaintiffs MOI-IAMED ALSAMMAN, MOHAMMED ALWATlK, 

AHMAD ASSAF, HASSAN BELGHALl, HASSAN DAMRA, MOHAMMED FARAH, 

JAMAL HASAN, AHMAD SHAKER KHADDASH, BASEM SHARAF, and TARIQ SAEED 

bring this action on their own hehal r and on hehalf of a class of other similarly situated persons 

pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

5. The Plaintiff Class consists of: 

All Muslim males, or those males appearing Muslim on the basis ortheir ethnic 

heritage due to their national origin, who arc or will be lawful permanent residents 

applying for naturalization to become U.S. citizens, and whose swearing-in 
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ceremony has been delayed more than 120 days since the applicant passed his 

naturalization interview. 

6. The Plaintiff Class is so numerous that the joinder of all members is impractical. 

It is reasonably estimated, on information and belief, that out of the more than 700,000 

applications for Naturalization processed annually by the uscrs, approximately 5% arc Muslim 

males, and that each year several thousand oCthcse individuals have their swearing in 

ceremonies delayed significantly longer than others similarly situated. 

7. There are questions oClaw and fact common to the class, including: (I) a 

common factual background of inordinate delay in the scheduling of swearing-in ceremonies; 

(2) whether the Defendants have violated and are violating the Immigration and Naturalization 

Act and applicable regulations by discriminating against the Plaintiff Class on account of either 

their gender, their religion, or both; and (3) whether merilbers of the Plaintiff Class are suffering 

discrimination (Iue to their religion or perceived religious beliefs. 

8. The claims oCNamed PlaintifF; are typical oCthe claims of their class. Named 

Plaintiffs, like all class members, have been reCused timely naturalization by facing long delays 

in the naturalization process on account of their gender and religion or perceived religion. 

9. Named Plaintil1s arc adequate representatives 01' the class who will adequately 

and fairly proteclthe interests ofthe class because they seek relief on behalforthe class as a 

whole and have no interests antagonistic to other members of the class. They are represented by 

attorneys employed by the Midwest Immigrant & Human Rights Center (MIHRC). the Council 

on American-Islamic Relations·- Chicago (CAIR-Chicago), as well as David Berten of the 

Competition Law Ciroup, who are attorneys experienced in federal litigation andlor immigration 

law and who have litigated complex class action civil rights cases. 
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10. In addition, Defendants have acted and lor r~fused to act on grounds generally 

applicable to the Plaintiff classes, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief and 

corrcsponding declaratory relief with resp~ct to the class as a whole, making class certification 

appropriate und~r Rule 23(b)(2) of (he Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Oq:anizational Plaintiff; 

I I. Plaintiff Arab American Action Network (AAA N) is a nonprofit entity located in 

Chicago, Illinois that fikd a request undcr the Freedom of Information Act s~eking s(atistical 

inlilmmtion on all individuals who applied to become naturalized citizens between the period of 

January 1,2000 and S~pt~mb~r 7, 2005. 

llcfcndunts; 

12. Defendant ALBERTO R. GONZALES is being su~d in his official capacity as the 

Attorney General of the Unit~d States. H~ is authorized by Congress to naturalize persons as 

citizens of the United States. II U.S.c. ~ 142(a). 

13. Defcndant MICHAEL CHERTOFF is being sued in his official capacity as the 

S~cretary ofth~ D~partmen( oCHomeiand Security (DHS). As of February 15,2005, Mr. 

Chertoff has been responsible for th~ administration of the United Stales Citizenship and 

Immigration Service, which provides certain immigration related servic~s including 

naturalization. 8 U.S.C. § 1103. 

14. Dd",ndant GERRY HEINAUER is (he District Director of USCIS for the 

Chicago District. As such, he is charged with the duty of adnlinistration and enli.lreemcnt of all 

the functions, powers, and duties of USCIS in the Chicago District. 
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IS. Defendant ROBERT S. MUELLER, III, is thc Director of the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation. As SLJch hc is charged with conducting background check of applicants for 

naturalization when requested to do so by the uscrs. 

Facts Regarding Individual Named Plaintiffs 

16. Plaintiff MOHAMED ALSAMMAN is a legal pennanenl resident of the United 

States, identified by Alien number 076 789 644. Mr. Alsamman passed the uscrs citizenship 

examination and interview on June 6, 2004. Currently a Syrian citizen, Mr. Alsamman is a 

Muslim male. He is a person of good moral character and olherwise meets all the requirements to 

be natLJralized as set forth in g U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed since he passed 

his citizenship interview. 

17. Plaintitf MOHAMMED AL WA TlK is a legal pennanent resident of the United 

States, identified by Alien number 073 427 360. Mr. Alwatik passed the uscrs citizenship 

examination and interview March 1,2004. Currently a Moroccan citizen, Mr. Alwa(ik is a 

Muslim male. He is a person of good moral character and oiherwise meets all the requirements to 

be naturalized as set fOJill in8 U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed sinec he passed 

his citizenship interview. 

18. PlaintitT AHMAD ASSAF is a legal permanent resident of the United Slales, 

identified by Alien number 070920090. Mr. Assafpassed the USCIS citizenship examination 

and interview October 7, 2004. Currently a Jordanian citizen, Mr. Assaf is a Muslim male. He is 

a person of good moral character and otherwise meets all the requirements to be naturalized as 

set forth in 8 U.S.C. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed since he passed his citizenship 

interview. 
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19. Plaintiff HASSAN BELGHALI is a legal permanent resident of the United Stales, 

identified by Alien number 047025280. Mr. I3elghali passed the USCIS citizenship 

examination and interview September 14,2004. Currently a Moroccan citizen, Mr. Bdghali is a 

Muslim male. lie is a person of good moral character and otherwise meets all the requirements to 

be naturalized as set forth in 8 U.S.C. § 1427. Morc than 120 days have passed since he passed 

his citizenship interview. 

20. Plaintiff HASSAN DAMRA is a legal pemlanent resident of the United States, 

identitlcd by Alien number 073 411 711. Mr. Damra passed the uscrs cilizenship examination 

and interview May 10, 2()()4. Currently a Jordanian citizen, Mr. Dmura is a Muslim male. He is 

a person of good moral character and otherwise meets all the requirements to be naturalized as 

set I'orth in 8 U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed since he passed his citizenship 

interview. On his own initiative, Mr. Damra requested an FBI fingerprint search on January 31, 

2006. On April 1 I, 2006, the FBI reported "no arrest record" in response to that request. 

21. PlaintitT MOHAMMED FARAH is a legal permanent resident of the United 

States, identified by Alien number 042 166773. Mr. Farah passed the USCIS citizenship 

examination and interview April 1'), 2004. CUlTently a Jordanian citizen, Mr. Farah is a Muslim 

male. He is a person of good moral character and otherwise meets all the requirements to be 

naturalized as set forth in 8 U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed since he passed his 

citizenship interview. 

22. Plaintiff AHMAD SHAKER KHADDASH is a legal pemlanent resident of the 

United Stales, identified by Alien number 045-820-993. Mr. Khaddash passed the USCIS 

citizenship examination and interview April 15, 2004. Currently a Jordanian citizen, Mr. 

Khaddash is a Muslimlllale:He is a person of good moral character and otherwise meets all the 
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requirements to be naturalized as set forth in 8 U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days have passed 

since he passed his citizenship interview. On his own initiative, Mr. Khaddash requested an FBI 

fingerprint search on January 20,2006. On March 23, 2006, the Fl3I repOlied "no arrest record" 

in response to that request. 

23. Plaintiff TARIQ SAEED is a legal pemmncnt resident of the United States, 

identificd by Alien number 076-H41-023. Mr. Saccd passed the USCIS citizenship examination 

and interview August 23, 2004. Currently a Pakistani citizen, Mr. Saeed is a Muslim male. lIe is 

a person of good moral character and othelwisc meets all the requirements to be naturalized as 

set fiJrlh in 8 U.S.c. § 1427. More Ihan 120 days have passed sinec he passed his citizenship 

intervicw. 

24. Plaintiff IlASEM SliARAF is a legal pemJanent resident Mthe United States, 

identified by Alien number 078-288-772. Mr. Sharar passed the USClS citizenship examination 

and interview September 27, 2005. Currentiy an Egyptian citizen, Mr. Sharafis a Muslim male. 

He is a person of good moral eharaetcr and otherwise meets all the requirements to be 

nat.uralized as set I<',rlh in 8 U.S.c. § 1427. More than 120 days havc pass cd since he passed his 

citizenship intervicw. 

Facts Relating to Organization Plaintiff 

25. The Arab American Action Network (AAAN) filed a request under the Freedom 

of Information Act on September 7, 2005. The request asked the United States Citizenship and 

Immigration Services to supply statistical intormation on all individuals who applied to become 

naturalized citizens between the period of January 1,2000 and tile date of the request. 

Specifically, the request asked for tile disclosure of the following infomlation, in electronic 

format: the state of residence of the applicant when the application was filed; the country or 
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origin or asserted citizenship or each applicant; age, gender and stated religious belief of the 

applicant; the number of times the USCIS Interview and USCIS English and Civics Tests were 

taken; the daters) such tests and interviews were conducted; the dates on which the interview and 

relakd te~ts were passed; the uscrs Officer who administered them; the uscrs ontee charged 

with reviewing the application; the number, if any, of subsidiary applicants; the status of those 

citizenship applications - induding those who have had citizenship granted; and (he date the 

applicant was informed to take the oath of citizenship, if such a date has been provided. It was 

also requested that ifit were known or could be calculated, to also provide the calculation of the 

number of days between the date the applicant passed the USCIS Interview and related tests and 

the date the applicant took the oath of citizenship or, i fno oath had yet heen taken, the date the 

inforrnation provided in response to this request. 

26. 011 September 29, 2005, the uscrs sent a letter to the AAAN, stating that it "had 

completed" its search for records responsive to the request "but did not find any." 

27. AAAN filed a timely administrative appeal on November 7,2005. 

28. As of April 28, 2006, the USCIS has not responded to the administrative appeal. 

29. Pursuant to 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii), the USCIS had an obligation to render a 

decision within 20 days of the administrative appeal. 

30. Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i), a requestor under the ForA is deemed to 

have exhausted his administrative remedies where the Government has not abided by the time 

limits set by the statute. 
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Facts Common to Counts I-TTl 

31. The United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (USClS) is the portion of 

the Department or Homeland responsible fOf adjudicating all applications for Naturalization 

pursuant to 8 U ,S.c. § 1421 et seq, 

32, On information and belief, that naturalization for Muslim males (or males from 

countries with a signilicant Muslim population) takes significantly longer to complete than i'or 

other applicants for Naturalization. 

33, On infofmation and belief, the purported reason for the delay is that background 

checks requested by USCIS and perfomlCd by the FBI are not yct completed for the applicants, 

despite the passage, in many cases, of years of waiting for the background checks to be 

completed. 

Causes of Action 

Count I; Naturalization Order Pursuant to 8 U.S.c. § 1447(b) 

34, Named Plaintiffs, in their individual capacity, reassert and reallege paragraphs I 

to 33 as if set forth fully here. 

35. Pursuant to 8 V,S,c. § 1447(b), eaeh of the Named PlaintitTs seeks a 

determination by this Court that he meets the requirements for naturalization and is to be 

naturalized as a U.S. citizen without further delay. 
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Count II: Illegal Naturalization Discrimination 

On the Basis of Gender in Violation of H U.S.c. § 1422 

36. Plaintiffs reassert and reallege paragraphs I to 33 as if set forth fully here 

37. It is illegal to deny or ahridge the "right ofa person to become a naturalized 

citizen of the United States" ·'because of sex." 8 U.S.C § 1422 ("The right ofa person to become 

a naturalized citizen of the United States shall not be denied or abridged because of race or ~ex or 

because such person is married."); see also U.S. Cons!. Art. I, section 8 (granting Congress the 

right "To establish a uniform mle of naturalization"). 

3K. Named Plaintiffs and others similarly situated have suffered discrimination on the 

hasis of gender in that their applications lor naturalization have been delayed to a degree not 

experienced by other similarly situated individuals who are female as opposed to male. 

Count III: VIolation of Religious Freedom 

39. Plainti ITs reassert and reallege paragraphs I to 33 as if set forth fully here. 

40. Through improper implementation ofthe law regarding naturalization on the basis 

ofthe plaintiffs' religious heliefs, defendants have suhstantially hurdened the Named Plaintiffs 

and other similarly situated from the exercise of their religious beliefs, in violation of the 

Religious Freedom Restoration Act, 42 U.S.C. * 2000bb-l(a), by placing the additional burden 

of an unreasonable delay in the approval of naturalization applications of members oCthe Islamic 

faith as opposed to other religions. 

41. There is no compelling governmental interest in the substantial burden placed on 

the plainti I'f's. In the altemative, to the extent there is a compelling govcmmental interest, the 
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burden placed on the plaintiffs is not the least rcstrietivc mcans for furthering any purported 

~()mpelling governmental interest 

Count IV: Mandamus/Request for Scheduling Swearillc-In Ceremonies 

42. Plaintiffs reassert and reallege paragraphs 1 to 33 as if set forth fully herc. 

43. Defendants owe Plaintiffs the duty to act upon their applications in a timely 

manner. Plaintiff~ havc a right to havc their applications adjudicated in a timely manner. 

44. Defendants are violating their duty by failing to adjudicate the application in a 

timely manner, by (a) refusing to make allY decision on cases relating to the Plaintiff Class until 

background chccks arc completcd, (b) failing to obtain a timely response from the FBI and other 

federal agencies regarding the background check; (c) tailing to communicate with the FBI and/or 

other federal agencies regarding long-delayed background checks; (d) refusing to consider other 

alternatives, such as approving the case subject to rescission ifthc claims of members of the 

Plaintiff Class regarding the lack of criminal history are not borne out by the background checks, 

or offering approval conditioned on applicants' agreemcnt to waive objcctions to 

denaturali/.ation if the background checks cause the Government to wish to examine the 

applicants further. 

45. Plaintiffs have already exhausted all available administrative remedies. 

46. Plaintiffs MOHAMED ALSAMMAN, MOHAMMED ALWATTK, AHMAD 

ASSAF, HASSAN 13ELGllALl, HASSAN DAMRA, MOHAMMED FARAll, JAMAL 

HASAN, AHMAD SHAKER KHADDASH, BASEM SHARAF, and TARIQ SAEED should 

have their swearing-in ceremonies performed as soon as practiable. 
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COUllt V: Freedom of Information Act Request of Plaintiff AAAN 

47. Plainti If Arab-American Action Network reasserts and realleges paragraphs I to 

33 as i I'set forth fillly hcre. 

48. Plaintiff has sought records under the Freedom ofTnfonnation Act as set forth 

above. 

49. The Government has responded to Plaintiff's request for records by (a) denying 

that it possesses any records responsive to the request, and (b) failing to respond in a timely 

manner to the Plaintiff s administrative appeal. 

50. Upon inl(jITnation and belief, uscrs has in its possession and control agency 

record~ responsive to plaintiffs FOrA request. Plaintiff has a statutory right to the records 

sought, and there is no legal basis lor USClS's refusal to release them. uscrs's failure to 

release the requested inl(mnation violates the Freedom oflnformation Act, 5 U.S.c. § 552(a). 

Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, plaintiff:s seek the loll owing relief: 

A. An order setting an immediate date for naturalization of the plaintiffs; 

B. Tile actual naturalization of the plaintiffs by this Court; 

C. Entry of judgment in favor of the plaintiffs and against the defcndants finding that the 

delay in their naturalization constituted improper denial of naturalization on fhe basis 

of gender, in violation ofS U.S.c. § 1422; 

D. An order directing the defendants to abide by the dictates of 8 U.S.c. § 1422; 

E. An award of damages ill an amount to be determined; 
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F. Declare that defendants' refusal to disclose the records requested by plaintiff 

AAAN's FOTA request is unlawful; 

G. Order defendants to make the requested records available to plaintiff AAAN; 

11. Enjoin defendants from refusing to comply with subsequent r"'quests for similar 

documents; and 

I. An award of costs, as provided by 28 U .S.C.S. § 24l2(a)(1); 

.I. An award ol'attomeys fees, as provided by 28 U.S.C.S. § 24l2(d)(1), or 42 U.S.c. § 

1988; or 5 U.Sc. § (a)(4)(R); and 

K. Such other relief as the Court deems just. 

Jury Demand 

Plaintiffs demand a jlllY as to all matters subject to resolution by a jury. 
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Filed: May _, 2006 
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